






















































168 HOWLEY HOUSE OR HALL 

stone nor a castle and was very vulnerable 
to attack. The defending force usually made St 
Peter's Church - now the cathedral - their 
strongpoint, but cannon placed on and around 
the church could achieve little against a deter­
mined assault. Bradford changed hands at least 
four times during the opening year of the war as 
the repeatedly captured but then 
evacuated the town. Newcastle attacked Brad­
ford on 1 July 1643 after the Bartle of Adwalton 
Moor and captured a large part of Fairfax's 
Infantry. Thereafter Bradford remained in 
Royalist hands until the general collapse of the 
King's cause in the region in summer 1644. 

Howley House or Hall (SE253255J Howley 
House or Hall, the Tudor seat of the Saville 
family, became a Parliamentary garrison under 
Sir John Saville at the end of 1642. Over the 
following months it served as a base for opera­
tions throughout the south of the county -
Parliamentary forces rendezvoused here on 21 
May 1643 before the attack on Wakefield. 
Despite strong resistance, Howley fell to New­
castle's Royalists on 22 June 1643 and there­
after played no part in the war. The ruins of the 
hall stand by a golf course in an area crossed by 
several public footpaths. 

Kirkheaton (SEt8t8) In St John's Church is a 
brass to Adam Beaumont (d1655 ) 

and has wife. Beaumont was the son-in-law of 
Ralph .Assheton, the leading Lancashire Par­

hamentaraan, and was himself active for Parlia­
ment in the north. He is portrayed wearing half 
armour of the period. 

Leeds (SE2933l Like Bradford to the west 
changed hands repeatedly during 

opening months of the war as the two armies 
vied for control of the region. By the end of 
1642 the town was in the King's hands but 
when Newcastle went into winter quarters, 'Fair­
fax took advantage of an unusually fine January 
to resume operations, storming Leeds on the 
23rd and capturing the town and its 500-strong 
garrison after a two hour fight. The town was 
lost in June an the wake of Adwalton Moor a d 
was not retaken until the Royalist evacuation 
summer 1644. 

(SE46t224l Secured for the Kin 
by Sir Richard Lowther in 1642 Pont f g 
Castle b · ' e ract . ecame a ma1or Royalist stronghold and 
survived long the collapse of the Kin 's 
cause elsewhere in the region. A base for atta;ks 
on Leeds and Bradford during 1643 th 1 · Jf d , e cast e 
was ttse un er attack from the folio . wing sum-
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mer and was almost continually besieged from 
August 1644 to July 1645 by Parliamentary 
forces under Fairfax, Lambert and Meldrum. By 
summer 1645 all hopes of relief had vanished . , 
the castle had been badly damaged- Fairfax had 
brought down the Piper Tower at the north-west 
angle and had opened up several breaches in the 
outer walls - and the garrison within were short 
of food and ammunition; the Royalists surren­
dered to Col. Poyntz on 21 July. 

In 1648 Pontefract became the scene of re­
newed fighting, for it was seized for the King by 
Cols Morris and Paulden on 8 June and served 
as one of the centres of the second Civil War. 
Over 500 Royalists joined the garrison before 
Parliamentary troops surrounded and besieged 
town and castle. Pontefract again proved a 
difficult obstacle and endured a nine month 
siege. Cromwell was here on 10 August and led 
an attack which overran the town and forced the 
Royalists to take refuge in the castle. He re­
turned in early November and spent three weeks 
overseeing the rather uneventful siege of the 
castle from his base at Knottingley (SE5023). 
The castle finally surrendered on 22 March 
1649, long after Cromwell's departure and the 
King's execution. 

Pontefract Castle was slighted after the war 
and its outer bailey and defences have now 
completely disappeared. The ruins of the 

keep, with a chapel, 
dungeons and ad101n1ng towers, are open daily. 
The museum within the castle grounds contains 
several. relics from the Civil War, including a 
collection of the siege money coined by the 
beleaguered Royalists. 

Sandal Castle (SE337182l Only the moat 
motte and a few sections of ruined masonr; 
remain of this early fourteenth-century shell 

castle. It was probably already semi­
ru1nous by the mid-seventeenth century and was 
not occupied until the later stages of the Civil 
War. Sandal was garrisoned for the King in 
1645 as an outpost of Pontefract but fell to Sir 
J?hn Saville in early October following a brief 
siege. 

Moor (SE3635) The engagement be­
tween Fairfax and Goring on Seacroft Moor on 
3o 1643 was merely the final stage in a 
running fight which had begun over five miles 
away. defection of Scarborough and the 

loyalty of the Hothams in Hull com­
pe ed to fall back from his position near 

As Thomas pulled out of Tadcaster on 
t e of 30 March and began moving 
sout -westwards he was approached by 500 
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Royalist Horse under Goring. A runnin b 
developed along the road to Leeds gG 

· d h · · g1 d' as or1ng harr1e t e 1ncreas1n y 1sorganized p l' 
F 

. f d ar 1amen-
tary rear. air ax ma e a stand on B h 
M h h. H h ram am 

oor, w ere 1s orse eld Goring off while his 
Foot made for Leeds. A more serious cl h 

S ft 
as took 

place on eacro Moor as Fairfax was · 
h G 

. nearing 
the town, w en ortng fell upon the n · d 

d 1 l
. . ow tire 

an care ess Par 1amentar1ans. Many f F · 
f 

, . k d o a1r-
ax s troops panic e , tried to flee from the 

moor and were cut down, and although F · f 
d h

. . f air ax 
manage to get is main orce into Leeds h l 
up to men or captured' i: 
process. Goring had insufficient men or artill 
to or besiege Leeds itself and turned 
once Fairfax entered town. Seacroft Moor 
has been completely built over and is now an 
eastern suburb of Leeds. 

(SE3320) In common with most 
towns tn the area, Wakefield changed hands 
repeatedly during the opening year of the war A 
small Royalist force the town by 
end of 1642 but the Kings men hastily evacu­
ated the place and fell back to York following 
the fall of Leeds on 23 January 1643. Wakefield 
was reoccupied in April after Fairfax's reverse at 
Seacroft Moor but the Parliamentarians an­
xious for a victory to raise flagging and 
to obtain prisoners to exchange for captured 
colleagues, mounted a daring raid on Wakefield 
o? 21 May. The town was held by Goring and 
his 3,000-strong garrison, but seventeenth-
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century Wakefi Id h R 1· e ad no w 11 f oya ists relied on stre b a castle and the 
eeble earthworks. Th:tKi and rather 
been . forewarned of Fairf s men may ha\'e 
certainly outnumb d ax s plans and they 
liamentary force f thfi 1,200-strong Par­
the barncades a; Wa a ter erce fighting around 
fax's men overcame and Norgate, Fair­
the. town. They then and entered 
main street and int h d their way up the 
they took the Royaro t e Place; when 
1\11 Saints, in the churchyard of 
disorder. Fairfax had heart and fled 1n 

· ac 1eved a tr d victory and returned t L d . emen ous 
ers, including Goringo slfuh 400 prison­
guns and ammunitio mse ' plus captured n. 

Wetherby (SE4048J The town . 
by Fairfax at the end of 1642 was occupied 
Pal· . as pan of the 
siorn1af entary operation to isolate York. Posses-

. o Wetherby not only threatened York 
but also secured the bridge across the 

arfe, thus pr.eventing a Royalist flanking 
attack on the main Parliamentary force at Tad­
caster .(North Yorks). Sir John Glemham led 800 
Royalists out of y ork to clear these Parliamen­
tary bases but Fairfax was forewarned of his 
plans and the Royalists were fiercely repulsed 
when they launched a night attack on Wetherby. 
Nonetheless, the general Royalist pressure com­

Fairfax to fall back from Wetherby and 
his other bases around York in February and 
March 1643. 

WILTSHIRE 

Although Wiltshire was largely Parliamentarian during the opening months of the Civil War, the 
Royalists quickly established several bases within the area and the north-eastern fringes of the 
county soon came under the control of Royalist Oxfordshire. During 1643-44 most of the county 
fell to the King's men, and it was now the Parliamentarians tuho iuere isolated scattered.outposts, 
particularly in the north-west of the county. Wiltshire was retaken by dun!'g 
Cromwell was frequently here during his southern o( 1645 and saw action a! Hzghwo d 
Deuizes and Longford House. He travelled through W1ltsh1re zn 1649 and 1650 on hzs way to an 

from Ireland. 

(SU2675l On 18 September 1643 
Prince Rupert fought a delaying action on the 
rolling downland of Aldbourne Chase. Having 
relieved Gloucester the main Parliamentary 

' army under Essex marched back towards Lon-
don, pursued by the King, who hoped to block 
the road and force battle on favourable ground. 
On 18 September, with both armies making 
Newbury, Prince Rupert launched a surprise 

attack on the Parliamentarians 
Aldbourne, inflicting losses before bemg 

d 
. off But his main purpose was to slow 

riven · d h · · t 
and divert Essex's advance an 
Aldbourne, coupled with the Lor s 
curiously dilatory movements, the King 

Newbury 
ahead of his opponents. 

to enter 

Amesbury (SUt541) The George Inn was 
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ginally part of the medieval abbey, conve~~e~ ~~ 
secular use at the Dissolution and .remode e the 
the eighteenth century. In 1645 it b~~ghame 
temporary HQ of Fairfax and the 1 . co~­
mand as the Parliamentary army campaigned in 
the area. 

Bishopstrow (ST8943) Tradition has it th.at 
Cromwell breakfasted beneath a yew tn Salis­
bury Road after the Battle of Newbury. 

Broad Hinton (5Ut05763l In the Church of 
St Peter ad V1ncula is a monument . to Col. 
Glanville, a Royalist officer killed at Br1dgw'1:t~r 
1n 164 5; his armour, worn throu~out the C1~1I 
War, 1s displayed above. Ne~rby 1s a memo~1al 
tablet to his kinsman, Sir John Glanville 
(d 1661 ), Speaker of the Short Parliament. 

Devizes (SU0061) Garrisoned by Sir Edward 
Hungerford for Parliament at the outbreak of 
war Dev1zes was abandoned in February 1643 
as the King's men advanced through Wiltshire 
and from then unttl September 1645 it served as 
a Royalist base. In July 1643 Waller tried to 
retake the town; advancing from the west, he 
brushed aside the Royalist outpost guarding the 
ford JUSt north of Rowde and laid siege to the 
town on 9 July with his army of 4,500 men. The 
Royalist forces inside the town, includirg Gor­
ing's army, manned the barricades, ditches and 
earth banks which surrounded Devizes, endur­
ing a heavy bombardment from Waller's batter­
ies in Coatefield and the Jump to the east. The 
approach of Wilmot's relieving force and the 
destruction of Waller's army at Roundway 
Down saved the town, which was not seriously 
threatened again until September 1645. 

On 15 September Cromwell arrived before 
Devizes and quickly overran the town, forcing 
Charles Lloyd's garrison to seek refuge in the 
castle gatehouse. This was bombarded from all 
sides - Cromwell's main cannon were sited in 
the Market Place - and on 22 or 23 September 
the garrison surrendered. The castle was subse­
quently slighted. 

By the seventeenth century most of the 
medieval castle had been destroyed - the outer 
bailey had been built over and the twelfth­
century shell keep was derelict and ruinous -
and only the gatehouse remained intact. What­
ever survived the Parliamentary slighting was 
removed 1n the nineteenth century when the 
present castellated mansion was built on the site. 
The medieval churches of St John and St Mary 
both suffered during the Civil War; in July 1643 
Goring stripped the lead from the roofs to make 
bullets and Waller directed his cannon at the 
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Royalist look-out posts in the towers. St John's 
tower sttll bears the scars where it was struck by 
Parliamentary cannon-balls. No trace of the 
Civil War earthworks which encircled the town . 
now survives. 

Great Chalfield (ST860630J Great Chalfield 
Manor changed hands several times during the 
closing two years of.the war: It wa~ fortified and 
garrisoned for Parliament 1n sprmg 1644 ?ut 
evacuated in September before the advancing 
Royalists. The King's men themselves withdrew 
shortly afterwards at the approach of Massey, 
who restored a Parliamentary garrison. Built by 
Thomas Tropenell in the late fifteenth century, 
the house survived both the Civil War and 
nineteenth-century restoration and remains one 
of the best preserved late medieval mansions in 
the region. Although the inner moat survives, an 
outer wall and moat which once surrounded 
both the manor-house and the adjoining church 
hav~ disappeared. Great Chalfield Manor is 
open to the public on certain summer weekdays. 

Highworth (SU~02924) The. Church of St 
Michael was fortified and garrisoned for the 
King in 1644. On 27 June 1645 Cromwell super­
vised the bombardment and storming of the place 
by a detachment from Fairfax's main Parliamen­
tary army. Scars on the outside of the tower near 
the doorway are usually ascribed to Parliamen­
tary cannon. 

Lacock Abbey (ST919684} Sir William Shar­
ington acquired the medieval Augustinian nun­
nery at Lacock after the Dissolution and con­
verted it into a secular mansion, retaining much 
of the former cloister and cloisteral buildings 
and adding a polygonal tower in the south-east 
corner. Lacock Abbey was garrisoned for the 
King in 1644 45 but surrendered on 24 Septem­
ber 1645 following a brief Parliamentary siege. 
The house was neither damaged during the war 
nor slighted after it and survives intact. Famous 
for its association with Fox Talbot and the 
development of photography in the nineteenth 
century, Lacock Abbey is now owned by the 
National Trust and houses a permanent Fox 
Talbot display. It is open daily except Tuesdays 
during the summer. 

Littlecote (SU3u70) Littlecote House is a 
splendid brick and flint manor-house, largely 
Tudor but incorporating fragments of medieval 
masonry from an earlier house which stood on 
the site. It was owned by the Popham family in 
the seventeenth century, two members of which, 
Cols Edward and Alexander, fought for Parlia-
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menr during rhe Civil War and were active in 
north Wiltshire, Somerset and Avon. The ho.use 
was garrisoned for Parliam~nt - the soldi~rs 
were quartered in the long attic on the north s!de 
of the house - but there was no serious fighting 
here and the house survived intact. Open to the 
public on summer weekends and al~o on week­
days during August, Little~ote contains a sup~rb 
collection of Civil War relics. A large equestrian 
portrait of Col. Alexander Popham hangs ~t t~e 
west end of the Great Hall, around which ts 
displayed a large selection of Civil War arms 
and armour including pistols, muskets, bando-

' h , liers, helmets, swords, Pop am s own a.rn_io~r 
and the distinctive suits worn by Hes1lr1ge.s 
'lobsters'. The chapel in the north-west ra?ge ts 
also of interest, for it is one of the very few 1n the 
country to preserve its mid-seve~teenth-century 
furnishings and arrangement, with an elevated 
wooden pulpit and reader's desk at the east end 
in place of an altar and a gallery around the 
other three sides. By the main entrance to the 
house is a small Civil War guardroom, with a 
flagstone floor, seventeenth-century furnishings 
and a standing effigy of a guard dressed in 
armour. Parliamentary troops supposedly still 
haunt their old garrison. 

Littlecote House has recently been in serious 
financial trouble and although the collection of 
Civil War arms and armour has been saved for 
the country, it 1s not yet clear whether it will 
continue to be housed and displayed at Little­
cote. 

Longford House or Castle (Su172267) Sir 
Thomas Gorges built the fortified house, some­
times called a castle, in the 1590s, a fantastic 
triangular mansion with three richly decorated 
and elaborately faced ranges linked by low, 
round corner towers; additional towers stand in 
the middle of two of the ranges. Longford was 
garrisoned for the King from 1643 until Lord 
Coleraine's Royalists surrendered on 17 or 18 
October 1645. Cromwell was present to oversee 
the brief siege and surrender. The house was not 
slighted after the war but fell derelict and 
ruinous during the eighteenth century. It was 
restored and extensively rebuilt in the nineteenth 
century, though care was taken to preserve the 
original Tudor appearance. 

Lydiard Tregoz (SU1084) In the Church of 
St Mary there is a grand and gaudy monument 
to Ca~t. Edward St John, a Royalist officer 
killed in 1645. St John is portrayed in life-size 
e~~ dressed in full military uniform of the 
C~vil ~ar - the ar:"1our ~s now in gilded gold -
with pictures of his soldiers on either side. His 
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armour and pennants are also on display within 
the church. 

Maiden Bradley (ST8038l New Mead Farm, 
on the eastern outskirts of the village, was the 
birthplace of Edmund Ludlow, the Parliamen­
tary officer and radical politician who fought 
with distinction in England and Ireland during 
the 1640s. A regicide and republican, he 
opposed the Protectorate and fled the country at 
the Restoration. 

Malmesbury (ST9387) The circuit of twelfth­
century town walls was very dilapidated by the 
seventeenth century and, despite the additional 
earthworks and barricades, Malmesbury re­
mained vulnerable, unable to resist determined 
assault. In consequence the town changed hands 
at least six times during the war, as control of 
north-west Wiltshire passed from one side to the 
other. At different times Hopton took the town 
for the King, Waller and Massey for Parliament. 
No trace of the Civil War earthworks remains, 
though fragments of the medieval stone defences 
survive, including parts of the East Gate at 
Holloway and a section of wall by the Town 
Bridge. During the course of Waller's recapture 
of the town in March 1643, part of Abbey Row 
was demolished in an explosion and was not 
rebuilt. Bullet marks in the west wall of the 
Abbey Church supposedly date from the Civil 
War and are often described as the grim evi­
dence of military executions. 

Marlborough (SUt869) Marlborough changed 
hands several times during the Civil War, usual­
ly with little or no fighting, the garrison evacuat­
ing the weakly held town at the approach of a 
larger force. On only one occasion was there 
serious bloodshed here, on 5 December 1642, 
when a Royalist force under Wilmot and Digby 
attacked the town in the early morning. The 
defenders were caught by surprise and the 
Royalists soon overcame the lightly defended 
barricades. However a fierce fight developed as 
th~ King's men sl?wly pushed their way up the 
High Street, clearing the side streets and build­
ings as they went. The town was eventually 
captured and sacked and many members of the 
Parliamentary garrison were taken prisoner and 
carted off to Oxford. Marks on the outer walls 
of St Mary's Church are usually attributed to 
Civil War gunfire. 

Ramsbury Manor (SU2567tO) Cromwell 
passed through the area in July 1649 en route to 
Ireland; ~ccording to tradition, he lodged on the 
12th not in Marlborough itself but at Ramsbury 
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Manor, the Earl of Pembroke's seat three miles 
east of the town. The Pembrokes acquired th 
medi:val palace of the Bishops of Salisbury i~ 
the sixteenth centu_ry and converted it into a 
grand Tudor mansion. The building in which 
Cromwell was reputedly entertained was com­
pletely demolished in 1680? when the present 
brick manor-house was built on the site. The 
house and its park are private. 

and the only easil d f 
town. Ludlow pr~cee~;~s;~le pl~ce v:ithin the 
for Parliament, establishin ~~n1son the Close 
fry, a massive thirteenth- g HQ in the Bel­
high and with walls eightcf~~g tkwer,_ 200 feet 
70 yards north of the cath d :c 'wh1ct: stood 
fortnight the p 1· ~ ra nave. Within a 

Roundway Down (SU0165J On 13 July 1643 
Waller lifted the siege of Devizes and marched 
his 4,500 men north-east .to meet a 1,800-strong 
relieving force under Wilmot which had been 
despatched from Oxford. Goring's 3,000 Royal­
ists in Devizes possibly believed that Waller's 
departure was a ruse to draw them out of the 
town and they did not march out to assist 
Wilmot until the very end of the battle. Thus 
Wilmot was heavily outnumbered when the two 
armies clashed in the wide shallow valley be­
tween Roundway and Morgan's Hills, roughly 
one mile north-north-east of the village of 
Roundway. There was little coordinated 
strategy and the battle soon developed into a 
confused melee at close quarters. Despite their 
numerical disadvantage, the Royalists gained 
the upper hand and broke Waller's Horse, 
which then bolted west, where many of the 
horses and their riders fell to their deaths down 
the precipitous western slopes of Roundway 
Hill· the hollow at the bottom of the slope , 
gained the nickname 'Bloody Ditch'. Without 
Cavalry cover, the Parliamentary Foot came 
under great pressure and was routed. Waller 
himself escaped but his army had been des­
troyed: 600 Parliamentarians were killed, .over 
800 captured and the remainder pu~ to fhght. 

The area is still open farmland, encircled by a 
number of roads. The Ordnance Survey battle 
symbol is at SU016655 in the flat open valley, 
little changed since the seventeenth century. 
Despite its name, 'Oliver's Camp', an Iron Age 
hill-fort a little to the west (SU001647) has .n? 
connection with Oliver Cromwell or the C1v1l 
War. 

Salisbury (SU1429) With neither town w~lls 
nor a castle Salisbury could offer little resist­
ance to dete;mined attack and the town changed 
hands several times during the Civil War, usual­
ly with little or no fighting. In Decemb~r 16!i' 
however Salisbury witnessed considerah e 

' d d t en bloodshed as Ludlow first capture an h h. 
lost the town. At the beginning of the mont r 1~ 
forces surprised and routed a party of Roya i~ 
Horse stationed in the Close, the fo~;:~:d~ai 
century walled enclosure around the 

. ar1amentananshd 
prised and expelled b Lan d al 'gone, s~r-
Horse. There was fierce ightin g a e s Roya~1st 
burst into the town and th gpasl~e Roya~1sts 
l I e ar 1amentanans 
ost at. east 80 men as thev tried to halt the 
attack in Endless Street and ~round the M k 
Place. The King's men held Salisbury for ~hr;~ 
months but then evacuated the place in March 
1645 .. Cromwel~ stopped in Salisbury on several 
occasi~ns later in the year during his Wiltshire 
campaign. 

Two . lat~r rebellions started in Salisbury. At 
the beginning of May 1649 it was one of several 
rendezvous points. for Leveller Parliamentary 
troops whose mutiny ended at Burford later in 
the month. On 12 March 1655 John Penrud­
dock and his Royalist colleagues siezed the town 
and captured the High Sheriff, Chief justice 
Rolle and Baron Nicholas, who were here on 
assize circuit; the rebels opened Fisherton Gaol 
and proclaimed Charles II in the Market Place 
before marching away westwards. 

Much of the medieval Close survives, with 
well preserved lengths of fourteenth-century 
walling to the south and east along St Nicholas 
Road and St John and Exeter Street; the north 
wall is more fragmentary and is obscured by 
later houses and the west wall has largely dis­
appeared. Several medieval town gates into the 
Close also survive, including the North Gate, St 
Ann's Gate Bishop's Gate and Harnham Gate. 
The Belfry' was completely demolis.hed in the 
eighteenth century and in the following ce~tury 
Fisherton Gaol, which stood on the south side of 
Fisherton Street near the river, was destroyed 
during the general redevelopment of the area. 

According to tradition, Cromwe~ lodge~ oghn 
17 October 1645 at the George in_ t~e 
Street, a late med~eval ri~.d ~~~u;~~~~- ~! 
gutted and partly emo ts e fa de of the 
front survives, no~ th~en~ra:ncd th~ great hall 
Old George Shopdp1ngTh a Old George Room of 
was also preserve as e 
the adjoining restaurant. 

S k House on the 
Stockton (ST9838l toe . ton fine Elizabethan 
outskirts of the vill~ge, ·~ ~ands of flint and 
gabled hall de~o~a~e w~ 1 dates from the 
stone. The_ ad101ning ec f:!elnterregnum chur-
1650s and is one of th d chapel are private 

· House an 
ches to survive. . d from the road. 
and should be v1ewe 
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Wardour Castle (ST9J826Jl Old Wardour 
Castle, the principal seat of the Arundell family, 
was held for the King at the outbreak of the 
Civil War. The garrison was a small one -
probably less than 30 men - but the mighty 
outer walls of the castle made Wardour a for­
midable stronghold. In late April 1643 ~ir 
Edmund Hungerford laid siege to the place with 
his 1,300-strong force but neither a week-long 
bon1bardment nor the Parliamentarians' vast 
superiority in numbers had any impact on the 
Royalist defences. Tunnelling operations 
brought better results and when sections of the 
outer wall were breached on 8 May the Royal­
ists surrendered on terms. The damage was 
quickly repaired and the castle garrisoned for 
Parliament by Edmund Ludlow. In the following 
December the Royalists returned to retake the 
fortress but Wardour again proved a formidable 
obstacle. The King's men besieged the castle for 
three months, throwing up earthworks and an 
earth and turf fort on the hillside above the 
outer gate, but not until March 1644 were the 
Royalists able to get close enough to the walls to 
lay mines an thus break the stalemate. The 
mines were sprung in mid-March and brought 
down two of the six angle turrets and opened 
large breaches in the walls. Although Ludlow 
repulsed one Royalist assault, the ruined castle 
was all but indefensible and the 75-man garrison 
surrendered to Sir Francis Doddington. War­
dour had been damaged beyond repair and 
played no further part in the war. Indeed, the 
damage was never made good and when the 
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Arundells returned to the area in the eighteenth 
century they lived not in the medieval castle but 
in New Wardour Castle, a Georgian mansion 
built for them nearby. 

The fourteenth-century castle was built to a 
curious and probably unique plan. Within the 
walled bailey stood a large hexagonal keep, the 
six ranges enclosing a central courtyard. The 
exterior was not a perfect hexagon, for a very 
large rectangular gatehouse., extended in the 
sixteenth century, projected to the east. The 
extensive ruins are open daily. 

Warminster (ST8745) By the churchyard path 
of the Minster Church is the weathered grave­
stone of Capt. Gourden, an officer fatally woun­
ded at Edgehill. 

Wilton House (SU099310) Wilton House, the 
Earl of Pembroke's Tudor mansion, stood on 
the site of a medieval nunnery. It was garrisoned 
for the King in 1643-44 but evacuated without 
a fight towards the end of 1644. Cromwell 
stayed here on 10 April 1645. The house was 
accidentally gutted by fire in 1647 and subse­
quently restored; it was again restored and 
extensively remodelled in the nineteenth cen­
tury. With the exception of the Tudor Holbein 
Gate, which is detached from the main house 
and stands in the grounds, very little of the 
original sixteenth-century work is now visible. 
House and gardens are open from Tuesday to 
Saturday throughout the summer. 
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